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Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”), pursuant to
Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, hereby moves for summary
judgment against Defendant Michael J. DaCorta (“DaCorta”) on Counts I, II, ITI,
IV, and V of the CFTC’s First Amended Complaint (Dkt. 110).?

DaCorta committed multiple violations of the Commodity Exchange Act
(“Act”) and CFTC Regulations (“Regulations”) by, among other things,
fraudulently soliciting members of the public (“pool participants”) to invest in the
commodity pools Oasis Global FX, Limited (“OGFXL”) and later Oasis Global FX,
S.A. (“OGFXSA”) (together, the “Oasis Pools”) and, ultimately, misappropriating
millions of dollars from the pool participants to support his lavish lifestyle. He
further failed to register as an associated person (“AP”) of commodity pool
operators (“CPOs”), and controlled CPOs that failed to provide adequate
disclosures to pool participants; failed to operate the commodity pools as
separate legal entities; improperly accepted customer funds; and commingled
customer funds. Accordingly, the CFTC charged DaCorta with fraud and a
number of related charges in this action.

Subsequently, the United States Attorney's Office for the Middle District of
Florida indicted DaCorta for the same underlying conduct. After a twelve-day

jury trial, DaCorta was found guilty of conspiracy to commit wire fraud and mail

! The CFTC filed its initial complaint on April 15, 2019 (Dkt. 1), and then its First Amended
Complaint on June 12, 2019 (Dkt. 110). Hereinafter, “Complaint” shall refer to this First
Amended Complaint.
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fraud, illegal monetary transactions, and filing a false income tax return. As set
forth in greater detail below, DaCorta is precluded from disputing the material
facts at issue in this case that were necessarily decided against him as part of his
criminal conviction. That, along with additional undisputed material facts,
mandate summary judgment in favor of the CFTC on all counts.

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate if, viewing the evidence in a light most
favorable to the nonmoving party, the court determines that “there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); Celotex Corp. v. Cartrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322
(1986). The moving party initially bears the burden to show the court, by citing
to materials in the record, “that there are no genuine issues of material fact that
should be decided at trial.” Clark v. Coats & Clark, Inc., 929 F.2d 604, 608 (11th
Cir. 1991); Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322—25; Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a), (c). A party may
move for summary judgment on the grounds that the facts alleged in the civil
complaint overlap with the facts actually litigated and decided adversely to the
nonmoving party in a criminal trial to such an extent that civil liability was
established as a matter of law. See, e.g., SEC v. Rand, 805 Fed. Appx. 871, 874
(11th Cir. 2020) (per curiam). Once the moving party has met its initial burden,
the burden shifts to the opposing party to establish a genuine dispute of material
fact. Clark, 929 F.2d at 608; Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). A genuine dispute of material

fact does not exist “unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the nonmoving
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party for a reasonable jury to return a verdict in its favor.” Chapman v. AI
Transp., 229 F.3d 1012, 1023 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc).

II. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 15, 2019, the CFTC filed its initial complaint (Dkt. 1) against
Defendants Oasis International Group, Limited (“OIG”); Oasis Management, LLC
(“OM”); Satellite Holdings Company (“SHC”); Michael J. DaCorta; Joseph S.
Anile, IT; Raymond P. Montie, III; Francisco “Frank” L. Duran; and John J. Haas,
seeking injunctive and other equitable relief, as well as the imposition of civil
penalties, for violations of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1—26, and the CFTC’s Regulations
promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. pts. 1—-190 (2022). The Complaint alleged
that from at least mid-April 2014 until the CFTC filed its initial complaint on
April 15, 2019 (the “Relevant Period”), Defendants engaged in a fraudulent
scheme to solicit participation in commodity pools trading retail foreign currency
(“forex”), among other violations. The Court entered an ex parte statutory
restraining order against Defendants on April 15, 2019 (Dkt. 7), and then Consent
Orders for Preliminary Injunction and Other Equitable Relief against Defendants
OIG, OM, DaCorta, and Anile on April 30, 2019 (Dkt. 43), and against
Defendants Duran, Haas and SHC, and Montie on July 11, 2019 (Dkts. 174, 175,
176, respectively).

The CFTC requested that a receiver be appointed to this matter in order to,
among other things, marshal assets held by Defendants as a result of their

involvement in the fraudulent scheme. On April 15, 2019, Burton Wiand was
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appointed as the receiver in this matter and continues to serve in this capacity
(Dkt. 7).

III. RELATED CRIMINAL PROCEEDING

Based on similar allegations in the Complaint, DaCorta was indicted on
December 17, 2019, with a superseding indictment on February 21, 2021.
Indictment and Superseding Indictment, United States v. DaCorta, No. 8:19-CR-
00605-WFJ-CPT (M.D. Fla. Dec. 17, 2019, Feb. 21, 2021) (Dkts. 1, 39.) Similarly,
the United States filed an information against Defendant Anile on August 19,
2019. Information, United States v. Anile, No. 8:19-CR-00334-MSS-CPT (M.D.
Fla. Aug. 19, 2019) (Dkt. 1). On August 12, 2019, Defendant Anile pleaded guilty
to the information charging him with conspiracy to commit wire fraud and mail
fraud, an illegal monetary transaction, and filing a false income tax return, for his
involvement in the fraudulent scheme. Plea Agreement, Anile, Dkt. 3.

On May 4, 2022, a jury found DaCorta guilty of conspiracy to commit wire
fraud and mail fraud, illegal monetary transactions, and filing a false income tax
return—all related to the same fraudulent scheme alleged in the Complaint and
admitted to by Defendant Anile. Jury Verdict, DaCorta, Dkt. 192. DaCorta
testified in his own defense at trial. DaCorta and Defendant Anile were each
ordered to pay $53,270,336.08 in criminal restitution, representing the loss to
victims of the fraudulent scheme, and both were also ordered to serve prison
sentences. See respective Judgments in a Criminal Case, DaCorta, Dkt. 234;

Anile, Dkt. 58.
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IV. ISSUE PRECLUSION

Issue preclusion (also known as collateral estoppel) prevents relitigating an
issue previously decided in a judicial or administrative proceeding. In re St.
Laurent, 991 F.2d 672, 675 (11th Cir. 1993). Issue preclusion can “bar[ ] a
defendant who is convicted in a criminal trial from contesting this conviction in a
subsequent civil action with respect to issues necessarily decided in the criminal
trial.” United States v. Jean-Baptiste, 395 F.3d 1190, 1194 (11th Cir. 2005); see
Emich Motors Corp. v. Gen. Motors Corp., 340 U.S. 558, 568, 71 S. Ct. 408, 414,
(1951) (“It is well established that a prior criminal conviction may work an
estoppel in favor of the Government in a subsequent civil proceeding.”). “For
collateral estoppel to apply, [1] the issue in question must be ‘identical in both the
prior and current action,’ [2] the issue must have been ‘actually litigated’ in the
criminal trial, [3] the determination of the issue must have been ‘critical and
necessary to the judgment in the prior action[,]’ and [4] the burden of persuasion
in the subsequent action cannot be ‘significantly heavier.” Jean-Baptiste, 395
F.3d at 1195 (quoting In re Bilzerian, 153 F.3d 1278, 1281 (11th Cir. 1998) (per
curiam)).

When considering what issues were litigated in the criminal trial, a court
must look at what “was ‘distinctly put in issue and directly determined’ in the
criminal action. When the criminal conviction was based on a jury verdict of
guilty, ‘issues which were essential to the verdict must be regarded as having been

determined by the judgment.”” Wolfson v. Baker, 623 F.2d 1074, 1078 (5th Cir.
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1980) (citation omitted) (quoting Emich Motors, 340 U.S. at 569, 71 S. Ct. at
414). In making this determination, the court may “examine the record of [the]
prior proceeding, taking into account the pleadings, evidence, charge, and other
relevant matter, and conclude whether a rational jury could have grounded its
verdict upon an issue other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from
consideration.” Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 444, 90 S. Ct. 1189, 1194 (1970)
(quotation marks omitted).

As set forth in detail below, based on the indictment, the trial proceedings,
and jury instructions, no rational jury could have found DaCorta guilty without
finding DaCorta knowingly and willfully defrauded Oasis pool participants in
violation of the antifraud provisions of Sections 4b and 40 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§
6b, 60, and Regulation 5.2(b), 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b) (2022).

V. STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS
A. Parties

1. Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent
federal regulatory agency charged by Congress with the administration and
enforcement of the Act and the Regulations promulgated thereunder. The CFTC
maintains its principal office at Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street NW,
Washington, D.C. 20581. Complaint, Dkt. 110 Y 10; DaCorta Answer, Dkt. 704 1
10 (admitting).

2. Defendant Michael J. DaCorta was a resident of Lakewood Ranch,

Florida. Complaint, Dkt. 110 Y 14; DaCorta Answer, Dkt. 704 1 14 (admitting).
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3. DaCorta co-founded and is a principal shareholder and director of
Oasis International Group, Limited (“OIG”). Id. (admitting).

4. DaCorta was also OIG’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Investment Officer, with responsibilities for all investment decisions, trading
execution, services, sales, clearing, and operations. Complaint, Dkt. 110  14;
Receiver Burton Wiand Declaration to CFTC’s Reply in Support of PI (“Wiand
Decl.”), Dkt. 165-1, 1 13; Joseph Anile Transcript from DaCorta Criminal Trial
(Day 6) (“Anile Tr. (Day 6)”)2 110:18—-111:5; Robinson Declaration in Support of
SRO Motion (“Robinson Decl.”) Dkt. 4-1, Ex. C at 9.

5. In 2006, DaCorta was listed with the National Futures Association
(“NFA”) as a principal and registered with the CFTC as an associated person
(“AP”) of a registered CTA, but he withdrew his listing and registration as part of
a 2010 settlement with the NFA and did not thereafter register with the CFTC.
Complaint, Dkt. 110 Y 14; DaCorta Answer, Dkt. 704 1 14 (admitting).

6. On August 9, 2010, DaCorta signed an “offline” settlement
agreement with the NFA that barred him from trading in any capacity that would
require registration with the NFA. Michael DaCorta Transcript from DaCorta
Criminal Trial (Day 11) (“DaCorta Tr. (Day 11)”)3 11:12-13:22, 21:4-19, 180:23-

181:1.

2 Anile Tr. (Day 6) attached as “MSJ Exhibit A.”
3 DaCorta Tr. (Day 11) attached as “MSJ Exhibit B.”
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7. OIG is a Cayman Islands limited corporation. OIG has never been
registered with the CFTC in any capacity. Complaint, Dkt. 110 { 11; DaCorta
Answer, Dkt. 704 9 11 (admitting).

8. Defendant DaCorta served on the OIG Board of Directors, was a
member of OIG, was an officer of OIG, operated OIG, and controlled OIG.
Complaint, Dkt. 110 1 11; DaCorta Answer, Dkt. 704 1 11 (admitting DaCorta was
on OIG Board of Directors, a member of OIG, and operated OIG); Wiand Decl.

9 13; Joseph Stone Transcript from DaCorta Criminal Trial (“Stone Tr.”)4 25:7—
26:16.

0. During the Relevant Period, OIG solicited, received, and accepted
funds from pool participants for foreign exchange trading. Robinson Decl.

19 56—64 & Exs. H & I; Michael DaCorta Transcript from DaCorta Criminal Trial
(Day 10) (“DaCorta Tr. (Day 10)”)5 248:12—255:24; DaCorta Tr. (Day 11) 45:15—
46:20, 50:5—10, 52:7—18, 204:12—14.

10. Defendant OM is a Wyoming limited liability corporation formed in
November 2011 for which DaCorta was the sole principal and general partner.
Robinson Decl. Ex. A at 1—5; DaCorta Tr. (Day 10) 237:6—239:13.

11.  During the Relevant Period, OM solicited, received, and accepted

funds for investment in commodity pools. Robinson Decl. 11 45—49 & Ex. F;

4 Stone Tr. attached as “MSJ Exhibit C.”
5 DaCorta Tr. (Day 10) attached as “MSJ Exhibit D.”
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Anile Tr. (Day 6) 94:1—8; DaCorta Tr. (Day 10) 235:5—239:13, 245:10—246:25;
DaCorta Tr. (Day 11) 258:2—259:13.
12.  OM has never been registered with the CFTC in any capacity.

Jennifer Sunu Transcript from DaCorta Criminal Trial (“Sunu Tr.”)¢ 115:18-20.

B. Oasis’s Books and Records

13. OM and OIG lacked documentation of corporate activities typical of
a normally functioning company, such as written policies or procedures. Wiand
Decl. ¥ 11.

14. Neither OIG nor OM had a regular system of accounting that would
record the assets and liabilities of OIG or any related entities. Wiand Decl. § 11.

15. Additionally, OIG did not prepare any income statements that would
show the losses from OIG’s or any related entities’ operating activities. Wiand
Decl. 9 11.

16.  OIG received pool participant funds into the same bank account it
paid employees, principals, and payments related to OIG-owned properties.
Anile Tr. (Day 6) 153:5—-157:13.

17.  The only payments that came into the OIG accounts were funds from

pool participants. Anile Tr. (Day 6) 159:17—161:7.

6 Sunu Tr. attached as “MSJ Exhibit E.”
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18.  OIG pool participant money was used for OIG operating expenses,
real estate purchases, and business investments. Anile Tr. (Day 6) 184:17—-185:4,
190:7—-191:15.

19. There are over 800 pool participants who did not receive what they

were promised from OIG or OM. Wiand Decl. 1 12.

C. The Oasis Pools

20. Funds from pool participants went to one of three Oasis-related
entities: OIG, OM, or SHC. Robinson Decl. 11 45, 48, 50, 53, 57, 60.

21.  For example, Citibank held an account (x0764) in the name of
Fundadministration (later Mainstream), for the benefit of Oasis Global FX S.A..
Robinson Decl. 1 30.

22,  Account 0764 received over $10 million from accounts owned by
OM, and over $9 million from accounts owned by SHC. Id. Y 57i-j. Account 0764
also received over $33 million directly from pool participants. Id. Y 57a.

23. Funds from pool participants were then sent from the 0764 account
to ATC Brokers. Id. Y 30.

24. DaCorta testified at trial that all of the money sent to ATC Brokers
was “lender money,” or money received from pool participants. DaCorta Tr. (Day
11) 233:15-18.

25. Once at ATC Brokers, the funds were deposited into a single
account—in this example a trading account owned by OGFXSA—and on the back

end each pool participant was assigned a pro rata share of the profits, losses, and

10
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spread pay via their “back office.” DaCorta Tr. (Day 11) 160:1-7 (trading account
belonged to OIG, but contained lender money and spread pay was being allocated
to “every single person”); id. at 161:17-24 (discussing allocation of spread pay to
each individual); Joseph Paniagua Transcript from DaCorta Criminal Trial (Day
7) (“Paniagua Tr. (Day 7)”)7 196:16-25 (losses and profits automatically allocated

by Spotex to pool participant subaccounts created by OIG).

D. Misrepresentations and Misappropriation by DaCorta

26. DaCorta routinely participated in conference calls to solicit
prospective pool participants in the Oasis Pools. Wiand Decl. 1 18; Robinson
Decl. 1 42; Anile Tr. (Day 6) 192:14—17; DaCorta Tr. (Day 11) 205:4—11, 206:8-15.

27.  On these calls, DaCorta told pool participants and potential pool
participants that they would earn a minimum return of 1% per month, or 12%
annually. Wiand Decl. 1 15, Ex. 1-D, Dkt. 165-5 at 35, 12:1-13:23; Robinson Decl.
T42.t.

28. DaCorta’s solicitations included representations that pool
participants’ money would be used in forex trading. Robinson Decl. § 42.0.

29. On October 30, 2018, DaCorta told potential pool participants that
in 2017, his forex trading earned “around 22%,” and that he had already earned
over 17% in 2018 and would end 2018 at over 20%. Wiand Decl. 15, Ex. 1-D,

Dkt. 165-5 at 17, 18:2-18.

7 Paniagua Tr. (Day 7) attached as “MSJ Exhibit F.”

11
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30. DaCorta stated in these calls that “there’s no trading risk,” (Wiand
Decl. 1 15, Ex. 1-D, Dkt. 165-5 at 18, 22:23-24), and that “[w]e have substantial
capital in place ahead of anyone’s capital” (id. 24:9-11).

31.  On another conference call on November 5, 2018, DaCorta stated
again that the only risk in his forex trading was “systematic risk,” in other words,
if the entire banking and financial system collapsed. Wiand Decl. 15, Ex. 1-D,
Dkt. 165-5 at29, 26:19-28:20.

32. DaCorta also told participants on the conference calls that they could
receive referral fees based on investments of victims they brought to the Oasis

scheme. Wiand Decl. § 15, Dkt. 165-5 at 38, 21:14-23:22.

E. Financial Mechanics of the Fraud

33. The defendants raised a total of over $75 million from over 800 pool
participants. Wiand Decl. 11 12, 22.

34. When the Court issued its Statutory Restraining Order on April 15,
2019 (Dkt. 7), OIG, OM, and SHC owed pool participants approximately $120
million, but the total assets of the companies (excluding real estate) was less than
$10 million. Wiand Decl. { 23.a.

35. DaCorta directed forex trading in the Oasis Pools, each of which held

an account at ATC Brokers, Ltd. in the United Kingdom. Robinson Decl. Y 26—

30.

12
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36. Intotal, only $22.4 million of the over $75 million raised from pool
participants was deposited with ATC for use in forex trading. Receiver’s Claims
Determination Motion, Dkt. 439 at 9; id., Ex. B (CPA Report), Dkt. 439-7 at 18.

37. A summary of trading data for the Oasis Pools per month starting in
June of 2015 and continuing until April 2019 shows a net forex trading loss—not
including fees or costs—of $20,271,450.35. Christopher Mitchell Transcript from
DaCorta Criminal Trial (“Mitchell Tr.”)8 165:19—167:1.

38. When factoring in fees and costs, the Oasis Pools’ trading activities
actually resulted in a loss of over $62 million. Id., 165:19-167:6; Robinson Decl.
30.

39. OIG operated unprofitably from its inception. Wiand Decl. § 23.a.

40. In 2017 the Oasis Pools returned negative 45% and in 2018 the Oasis
Pools returned negative 96%. Robinson Decl.  30.

41.  The Oasis Pools never withdrew funds; in other words profits were
never returned to OIG’s bank account or to any bank account at all. Id.; DaCorta
Tr. (Day 11) 217:19-218:16.

42. DaCorta knew that the Oasis Pools were not generating returns
sufficient to repay pool participants and that, at best, the Oasis Pools were “fairly
slightly positive to break even” in 2017 and that in 2018 the Oasis Pools

“definitely suffered losses on the P&L side.” DaCorta Tr. (Day 11) 119:3—7.

8 Mitchell Tr. attached as “MSJ Exhibit C.”
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43. Infact, DaCorta testified that he lost money almost every single
month in 2018, and agreed that he took catastrophic losses in the trading account
relative to the account’s capitalization. Id., 232:21-233:2.

44. DaCorta and other OIG, OM, or SHC principals or solicitors
collectively misappropriated over $28 million of pool participants’ funds. Wiand
Decl. § 23.d.

45. At DaCorta’s direction, pool participants were issued misleading
account statements that concealed the trading losses and misappropriation by
reflecting balances owed to pool participants despite the fact that sufficient funds
to pay these balances did not exist. Anile Tr. (Day 6) 216:25-217:22; DaCorta Tr.
(Day 11) 159:4—161:1, 216:25—217:18.

46. Reported profits or earnings by pool participants were fictitious and
any money returned to pool participants came from investments of other pool
participants. Wiand Decl. 1 23.e; Anile Tr. (Day 6) 219:24—220: 16; Joseph Anile
Transcript from DaCorta Criminal Trial (Day 7) (“Anile Tr. (Day 7)”)9 104:9—
105:8.

47. During the Relevant Period, the Oasis scheme received at least
$83,795,457.00 in pool funds from pool participants. Receiver’s Claims

Determination Motion, Dkt. 439 at 9; id., Ex. B (CPA Report), Dkt. 439-7 at 4.

9 Anile Tr. (Day 7) attached as “MSJ Exhibit F.”
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48. Atleast $30,364,607.00 of the pool funds were used to make Ponzi
payments to pool participants. Id. at 16-17; Robinson Decl. § 65 (indicating
slightly lower amount due to fewer records available at the time of filing).

49. Atleast $11,403,263.00 of the pool funds were used for insiders and
related party transactions, including real estate, personal expenses, and vehicle
purchases. Dkt. 439-7 (CPA Report) at 16-18; Robinson Decl. Y 65 (indicating
slightly lower amount due to fewer records available at the time of filing).

50. DaCorta admitted that he paid for at least two personal residences,
multiple luxury vehicles including a Maserati, vacations, and a trip on a private
jet with money from OM’s bank account. DaCorta Tr. (Day 11) 72:23-73:23,
120:14-127:11, 262:12-263:1.

51.  Of the approximately $24.8 million deposited into OM’s bank
account, approximately $24.1 million came directly from pool participants.
Robinson Decl. 11 44-45.

52. Nearly half a million of the remaining funds came from the Oasis

Pools, which also contained funds from pool participants. Id. 11 45.h, 57.

F. The Oasis Scheme Constituted a Conspiracy to Commit Wire
Fraud and Mail Fraud, and Oasis Pool Participant Funds
Constituted Proceeds of Wire Fraud or Mail Fraud

53. In perpetrating the Oasis scheme, DaCorta knowingly combined,
conspired, confederated, and agreed with others, to commit wire fraud and mail

fraud. Jury Instructions, U.S. v. DaCorta, No. 8:19-CR-00605-WFJ-CPT (M.D.

15
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Fla. May 4, 2022) (Dkt. 191);° Jury Verdict, U.S. v. DaCorta, No. 8:19-CR-
00605-WFJ-CPT (M.D. Fla. May 4, 2022) (Dkt. 192).1

54. In perpetrating the Oasis scheme, DaCorta agreed with others to
devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and for obtaining
money and property from the Oasis pool participants by means of materially false
and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. Transcript of DaCorta
Criminal Trial Day 13 (“Day 13 Tr.”)*2 55:8-17; Jury Instructions, DaCorta, Dkt.
191 at 11—17; Jury Verdict, DaCorta, Dkt. 192.

55. DaCorta knew the unlawful purpose of the scheme and willfully
joined in it. Jury Instructions, DaCorta, Dkt. 191 at 12; Jury Verdict, DaCorta,
Dkt. 192.

56. In perpetrating the Oasis scheme, DaCorta intended to defraud.
Jury Instructions, DaCorta, Dkt. 191 at 12—13; Jury Verdict, DaCorta, Dkt. 192.

57. As aresult of the aforementioned conduct, DaCorta was found
beyond a reasonable doubt to be guilty of the offense of conspiracy to commit
both wire fraud and mail fraud, and was in fact guilty of such offense. Day 13 Tr.
55:8-17; Jury Verdict, DaCorta, Dkt. 192.

58. The funds OIG and OM obtained from pool participants constituted

proceeds derived from wire fraud or mail fraud. Superseding Indictment,

10 Jury Instructions attached as “MSJ Exhibit G.”
1 Jury Verdict attached as “MSJ Exhibit H.”
12 Day 13 Tr. is attached as “MSJ Exhibit I.”
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DaCorta, Dkt. 3913 at 8—9; Jury Instructions, DaCorta, Dkt. 191 at 14—20; Jury
Verdict, DaCorta, Dkt. 192.

59. The funds OIG and OM obtained from pool participants were the
proceeds of a knowing and intentional scheme to defraud or obtain money or
property, using false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, and
the false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises were about a
material fact. Superseding Indictment, DaCorta, Dkt. 39 at 8—9; Jury
Instructions, DaCorta, Dkt. 191 at 14—20; Jury Verdict, DaCorta, Dkt. 192.

60. The loss to victims from DaCorta’s fraudulent scheme was at least
$53,270,336.08. Judgment in a Criminal Case, DaCorta, Dkt. 2344 at 6—7.

61. DaCorta obtained and dissipated at least $2,817,876.16 in proceeds
from the wire fraud and mail fraud conspiracy and money laundering offense for
which he was convicted. Judgment in a Criminal Case, DaCorta, Dkt. 234 at 8—

9.

G. Defendant OIG Failed To Provide Adequate Pool Disclosures and
Other Relevant Documents

62. At or near the time of participation in the Oasis Pools, Defendant
OIG, while acting as a CPO of the Oasis Pools, provided potential pool

participants with a document titled “Agreement and Risk Disclosures,” along

13 Superseding Indictment attached as “MSJ Exhibit J.”
14 Judgment in a Criminal Case attached as “MSJ Exhibit K.”
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with a “Promissory Note and Loan Agreement.” Robinson Decl. 11 35-36 &
Ex. C.

63. The Agreement and Risk Disclosure purported to alert pool
participants to the risks associated with investing in forex, but at the same time,
the Promissory Note and Loan Agreement guaranteed pool participants a
minimum 12% annual return. See DaCorta’s Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 454 at 34-
36 (Promissory Note and Loan Agreement), 37-45 (Agreement and Risk
Disclosures).

64. The Agreement and Risk Disclosure did not include the following
cautionary statement to pool participants required by 17 C.F.R. § 4.24(a):

THE [CFTC] HAS NOT PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF
PARTICIPATING IN THIS POOL NOR HAS THE COMMISSION
PASSED UPON THE ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THIS
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT.

See DaCorta’s Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 454 at 37-45.

65. The Agreement and Risk Disclosure similarly did not contain risk
disclosure statements required by 17 C.F.R. § 4.24(b)(1) (general commodity pool
risk disclosure statement) or (b)(2) (risk disclosure specific to forex trading). See
id. at 37-45.

66. In addition, Defendant OIG also failed to provide pool participants
with additional information required by 17 C.F.R. § 4.24(d)-(w), including but not
limited to the fees and expenses incurred by the Oasis Pools, past performance

disclosures, and a statement that the CPO is required to provide all pool
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participants with monthly or quarterly account statements, as well as an annual
report containing financial statements certified by an independent public
accountant. See DaCorta’s Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 454 at 34-45.

67. Finally, the Agreement and Risk Disclosure did not contain any of
the information required by Regulation 4.25, 17 C.F.R. 4.25 (2022), including
specifics as to the Oasis Pools’ aggregate subscriptions to the pool, the pool’s
current net asset value, or information regarding the Oasis Pools’ largest draw

downs. Id.

H. DaCorta Controlled OIG and OM

68. DaCorta was responsible for all investment decisions, including but
not limited to trading execution, as well as managing OIG’s relationship with ATC
Brokers, including the decision to use ATC Brokers in the first instance. Anile Tr.
(Day 6) 120:1-12; Anile Tr. (Day 7) 85:5-86:11.

69. DaCorta directed deposits to the ATC trading account owned by
OGFXSA. Anile Tr. (Day 6) 163:15-24.

70.  DaCorta was listed as the sole trader in ATC account applications for
both OGFXSA and OGFXL. Robinson Decl. 11 27, 29; Dkt. 4-8 at 4.

71.  DaCorta was the sole signatory on OM bank accounts. Motion for
SRO, Dkt. 4-5 at 1-4.

72.  DaCorta also directed others to make changes to individual account
statements such that pool participants could not see the profits, losses, or fees

attributable to their individual investments. Paniagua Tr. (Day 7) 195:24-200:1;
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Anile Tr. (Day 6) 125:16-126:15; Anile Tr. (Day 7) 86:12-25; DaCorta Tr. (Day 11)
159:4-161:1.
VI. ARGUMENT
The undisputed factual record—including matters admitted by DaCorta at
his criminal trial and established by the jury verdict against him—demonstrates
that the CFTC is entitled to summary judgment on Counts I, II, III, IV, and V of

its Complaint.

A. Jurisdiction and Venue

This Court possesses jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1331 (codifying federal question jurisdiction) and 28 U.S.C. § 1345 (providing
that U.S. district courts have original jurisdiction over civil actions commenced
by the United States or by any agency expressly authorized to sue by Act of
Congress). Section 6¢(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(a), authorizes the CFTC to
seek injunctive and other relief in a United States district court against any
person whenever it shall appear to the CFTC that such person has engaged, is
engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of
any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation, or order thereunder. Complaint,
Dkt. 110 1 8; DaCorta Answer, Dkt. 704 1 8 (admitting). Venue properly lies with
this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(e), because the

acts and practices in violation of the Act occurred within this District. DaCorta
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admits venue is proper in this district. Complaint, Dkt. 110 ¥ 9; DaCorta Answer,

Dkt. 704 1 9 (admitting to venue allegation).

B. DaCorta Violated the Antifraud Provisions of Section 4b of the
Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b and Regulation 5.2, 17 C.F.R. § 5.2

7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A)—(C) makes it unlawful for any person, in or in
connection with any order to make or the making of a futures contract: (1) to
cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud another person; (2) willfully to
make or cause to be made to the other person any false report or statement or
enter any false record; or (3) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive such other
person by any means whatsoever in connection with such contract. Regulation
5.2(b)(1)—-(3), 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(1)—(3) (2022), mirrors the requirements of 7
U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A)—(C). 7 U.S.C. § 6b applies to forex transactions with non-
eligible contract participants pursuant Section 2(c)(2)(C)(i) and (iv) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(O)(1), (Gv).

To establish that DaCorta violated 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A)—(C) through
misappropriation, false entries and/or fraudulent solicitations, the CFTC must
prove that: (1) a misappropriation, misrepresentation, misleading statement,
false statement or record, or deceptive omission was made; (2) with scienter; and
(3) that the misappropriation, misrepresentation, misleading statement, false
statement or record, or deceptive omission was material. See, e.g., CFTC v. R.J.
Fitzgerald & Co., 310 F.3d 1321, 1328 (11th Cir. 2002); CFTC v. Rosenberg, 85 F.

Supp. 2d 424, 446—47 (D.N.J. 2000). Scienter requires proof that a defendant
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committed the alleged wrongful acts intentionally or with reckless disregard for
his duties under the Act. Drexel Burnham Lambert, Inc. v. CFTC, 850 F.2d 742,
748 (D.C. Cir. 1988). A statement is material if it “is substantial[ly] like[ly] that a
reasonable investor would consider [the matter] important in making an
investment decision.” R.J. Fitzgerald, 310 F.3d at 1328 (internal quotation
marks omitted). Misappropriation of pool participants’ funds also violates 7
U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A) and (C). See, e.g., CFTC v. Baragosh, 278 F.3d 319 (4th Cir.
2002); Rosenberg, 85 F. Supp. 2d at 445.

Issue preclusion bars DaCorta from contesting that his actions violated the
antifraud provisions of 7 U.S.C. § 6b and 17 C.F.R. § 5.2 because the jury verdict
established: (1) DaCorta acted with the intent to defraud; and (2) that the OIG
and OM pool participants were the victims of wire or mail fraud, in that the pool
participants’ money or property was obtained by false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises and that the false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises were about a material fact. Statement of Material
Facts (“Facts”), Part V, supra 11 53-61. No rational jury could have grounded its
verdict upon an issue other than DaCorta’s participation in a fraud in violation of
7U.S.C. § 6b and 17 C.F.R. § 5.2. See Ashe, 397 U.S. at 444. In addition to the

precluded issues, there is no genuine dispute that DaCorta engaged in fraud.

1. DaCorta Committed Fraud by Misappropriation

Misappropriation of customer funds constitutes “willful and blatant” fraud

that violates 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A) and (C). See CFTC v. Noble Wealth Data Info.
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Servs., Inc., 90 F. Supp. 2d 676, 687 (D. Md. 2000) (diversion of investor funds
for operating expenses and personal use violated 7 U.S.C. § 6b); see also CFTC v.
Skorupskas, 605 F. Supp. 923, 932 (E.D. Mich. 1985) (defendant violated 7
U.S.C. § 6b and 7 U.S.C. §60 by soliciting funds for trading and then trading only
a small percentage of those funds, while disbursing the rest of the funds to
investors, herself, and her family).

Here, DaCorta misappropriated pool participants’ funds in violation of 7
U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C)and 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(1), (3) by: (1) maintaining the
funds received from pool participants in an account used for general business and
personal expenses (Facts 19 16-18); (2) using pool participants’ funds to pay over
$11 million in business and personal expenses (Facts 1 17-18, 49-52); and (3)
paying purported gains and returning principal to pool participants using funds
received by other pool participants (Facts 11 46-48). See, e.g., CFTC v.
Weinberg, 287 F. Supp. 2d 1100, 1106 (C.D. Cal. 2003) (misappropriation of
funds earmarked for trading constituted “willful and blatant fraudulent activity

that clearly violates” the CEA) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

2. DaCorta Committed Fraud Through Material
Misrepresentations, False Statements, and Omissions

To establish that DaCorta violated 7 U.S.C. § 6b and 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(1)-
(3) through fraudulent solicitations and false statements or records, the CFTC
must prove that: (1) DaCorta made a misrepresentation, misleading statement,

false statement or record, or deceptive omission; (2) with scienter; and (3) that
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the misrepresentation, misleading statement, false statement or record, or
deceptive omission was material. R.J. Fitzgerald, 310 F.3d at 1328. Scienter
requires proof that the defendant committed the alleged wrongful acts
intentionally or with reckless disregard for his duties under the Act. Drexel, 850
F.2d at 748; see also R.J. Fitzgerald, 310 F.3d at 1328 (“[S]cienter is established
if Defendant intended to defraud, manipulate, or deceive, or if Defendant’s
conduct represents an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care.”)
(citation omitted). A statement or omission is material if “a reasonable investor
would consider it important in deciding whether to make an investment.” R.J.
Fitzgerald, 310 F.3d at 1328.

DaCorta, individually and on behalf of OIG, OM, and the Oasis Pools, as a
person interfacing with customers and potential customers, made material
misrepresentations to pool participants, including that: (1) all pool funds would
be used to trade forex (Facts 1 26, 28); (2) pool participants would receive a
minimum 12% guaranteed annual return from this forex trading (Facts 1 26-27);
(3) the Oasis Pools were profitable and returned 22% in 2017 and 21% in 2018
(Facts 26, 29); (5) there was no risk of loss with the Oasis Pools (Facts 1 26,
30-31); and (6) pool participants could earn extra returns by referring other pool
participants to the Oasis Pools (Facts 19 26, 32). See id. at 1332—33 (discussing
materiality of representations regarding risk and profits).

In addition, DaCorta deceptively omitted: (1) that DaCorta used only a

small portion of pool participants’ funds to trade forex (Facts 11 33, 35-36); (2)

24



Case 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF Document 749 Filed 07/17/23 Page 32 of 50 PagelD 12098

that DaCorta’s forex trading resulted in net losses (Facts 11 37-40); (3) that
payments characterized as trading profits by DaCorta to pool participants and
returns of principal, if any, were being paid from funds contributed by other pool
participants, in the manner of a Ponzi scheme (Facts 11 41, 48); (4) that DaCorta
was misappropriating pool participant money to fund a lavish lifestyle (Facts 1
49-52); (5) that DaCorta had agreed to be barred from trading in any capacity
that would require registration with the NFA (Facts 11 5-6); (6) that DaCorta and
the Oasis entities did not keep appropriate books and records and lacked the
financial ability to return principal to all pool participants (Facts 1Y 13-15, 19, 33-
34, 39, 41-43); and (7) that despite soliciting pool participants and acting as CPOs
and an AP of CPOs, DaCorta, OIG, and OM were not registered with the CFTC
(Facts 19 2-3, 5-7, 9-12). See, e.g., CFTC v. Equity Fin. Grp. LLC, 537 F. Supp. 2d
677, 699 (D.N.J. 2008), affd, 572 F.3d 150 (3d Cir. 2009) (failure to disclose
material information regarding expertise, qualifications, and background); CFTC
v. Heffernan, No. 4:04-23302-TLW-TER, 2006 WL 2434015, at *4, *7 (D.S.C.
Aug. 21, 2006) (failure to disclose history of past losses).

DaCorta made misrepresentations and deceptive omissions knowingly or
with reckless disregard of the truth to induce pool participants to invest with OM
and OIG. For example, when DaCorta suggested that OIG or OM would use pool
participants’ money to trade forex, he knew the statement was false because he
was using pool participants’ money for personal expenses and to return principal

to earlier pool participants. Facts 11 44, 46, 47-50. DaCorta also knew that the
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Oasis Pools were not generating returns sufficient to repay pool participants, and
in fact that the Oasis Pools were suffering losses. Facts 19 35, 37-43, 46.

These misrepresentations and omissions are material because a reasonable
pool participant would want to know, among other things, that DaCorta only
used a small portion of pool participants’ funds to trade forex and that the pool
had sustained significant net losses during the time the funds were traded. To
conceal the trading losses and misappropriation, DaCorta, on behalf of OIG and
OM, created and issued false account statements to pool participants that inflated
and misrepresented the value of the pool participants’ investments in the Oasis
Pools and the Oasis Pools’ trading returns. Facts 19 45-46. Accordingly, through
his fraudulent solicitations and false statements, DaCorta violated 7 U.S.C. §
6b(a)(2)(A), (C), and 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(1), (3).

C. DaCorta Violated the Antifraud Provisions of Section
40 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60

Section 1a(11) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(11)(A)(i), defines a CPO, in relevant
part, as any person—

[E]ngaged in a business that is of the nature of a commodity pool,
investment trust, syndicate, or similar form of enterprise, and who, in
connection therewith, solicits, accepts, or receives from others, funds,
securities, or property, either directly or through capital contributions, the
sale of stock or other forms of securities, or otherwise, for the purpose of
trading in commodity interests, including any—

(D commodity for future delivery, security futures product, or
swap; [or]

(I) agreement, contract, or transaction described in [S]ection
2(c)(2)(C)(1) [of the Act] or [S]ection 2(¢)(2)(D)(1) [of the Act].
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Under Regulation 5.1(d)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(d)(1) (2022), and subject to
certain exceptions not relevant here, any person who operates or solicits funds,
securities, or property for a pooled investment vehicle and engages in retail forex
transactions is a retail forex CPO. 7 U.S.C. § 60 applies to forex pools pursuant to
Section 2(c)(2)(C)(@ii)(I) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(ii)(I).

Regulation 1.3, 17 C.F.R. § 1.3 (2022), defines an AP of a CPO as any
natural person associated with a CPO:

[Als a partner, officer, employee, consultant, or agent (or any natural
person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions),
in any capacity which involves (i) the solicitation of funds, securities,
or property for a participation in a commodity pool or (ii) the
supervision of any person or persons so engaged].]

Under 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(d)(2), any person associated with a CPO “as a partner,
officer, employee, consultant or agent (or any natural person occupying a similar
status or performing similar functions), in any capacity which involves: (i) [t]he
solicitation of funds, securities, or property for a participation in a pooled vehicle;
or (ii) [t]he supervision of any person or persons so engaged” is an AP of a retail
forex CPO.

7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(A)—(B) makes it unlawful for a CPO or an AP of a CPO to
use the mails or any other means of interstate commerce to: (1) employ any
device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any prospective or existing pool participant;
or (2) engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business that operates as a
fraud or deceit upon any prospective or existing pool participant. Unlike 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a) and 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(A), 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(B) does not require “knowing” or
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“willful” conduct to establish liability. See Messer v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 847 F.2d
673, 678—79 (11th Cir. 1988). 7 U.S.C. § 60 applies to all CPOs, whether
registered, required to be registered, or exempted from registration. See, e.g.,
Skorupskas, 605 F. Supp. at 932.

Here again, issue preclusion bars DaCorta from contesting that his actions
violated the antifraud provisions of 7 U.S.C. § 60 because the jury verdict
established: (1) DaCorta acted with the intent to defraud (Facts 1Y 53-56); and
(2) the OIG and OM pool participants were the victims of wire or mail fraud, in
that the pool participants’ money or property was obtained (and then pooled) by
false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises that were about
material facts (Facts 1 57-59). No rational jury could have grounded its verdict
upon an issue other than DaCorta’s participation in a fraud in violation of 7
U.S.C. § 60 in connection with soliciting and accepting funds from hundreds of
members of the public to be pooled for the purpose of generating profit through
trading forex. See Ashe, 397 U.S. at 444. In addition to the precluded issues,
there is no genuine dispute that DaCorta engaged in fraud in violation of 7 U.S.C.
8 60.

OIG and OM acted as CPOs by soliciting and accepting funds from
hundreds of members of the public to be pooled for the purpose of generating
profit by trading forex. Facts 1109, 11, 20-25. DaCorta acted as an AP of OIG and
OM by soliciting and accepting funds from prospective participants in the Oasis

Pools. Facts 19 26-32. The conduct constituting DaCorta’s violations of 7 U.S.C.
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§ 6b(a), as described above, also constitutes violations of 7 U.S.C. § 60 because
OIG and OM were CPOs and DaCorta acted as an AP of OIG and OM. See, e.g.,

Skorupskas, 605 F. Supp. at 932—33.

D. DaCorta Failed to Register as Required by Law

Subject to certain exceptions not relevant here, Section 4m(1) of the Act,
7 U.S.C. § 6m(1), states that it shall be “unlawful for any . . . [CPO], unless
registered under this chapter, to make use of the mails or any means or
instrumentality of interstate commerce in connection with his business as such . .
. [CPO].” Similarly, Regulation 5.3(a)(2)(i), 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(i) (2022),
requires those that meet the definition of a retail forex CPO under Regulation
5.1(d), 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(d) (2022), to register as a CPO with the CFTC.

APs of CPOs must also register. Subject to certain exceptions not relevant
here, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(ii1)(I)(cc), states a:

[Plerson, unless registered in such capacity as the Commission by rule,
regulation, or order shall determine and a member of a futures association
registered under section 21 of this title, shall not . . .

(cc) operate or solicit funds, securities, or property for any
pooled investment vehicle that is not an eligible contract participant
in connection with [retail forex contracts, agreements, or
transactions].

Section 4k(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2), and Regulation 5.3(a)(2)(ii), 17
C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(ii) (2022), prohibit persons from being associated with a CPO

as a partner, officer, employee, consultant, or agent (or any person occupying a
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similar status or performing similar functions) in any capacity that involves: (1)
the solicitation of funds, securities, or property for participation in a commodity
pool, or (2) the supervision of any person or persons so engaged, unless such
person is registered.

Here, OIG and OM were retail forex CPOs of the Oasis Pools. DaCorta, as
an unregistered AP of OIG and OM, operated and solicited funds for participation
in the Oasis Pools. Facts 11 5-6, 26-32. By failing to register as an AP, DaCorta

violated 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc), 6k(2), and 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(ii).

E. Defendants OIG and OM Illegally Operated the Oasis Pools

Regulation 4.20(b), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(b) (2022), prohibits CPOs, whether
registered or not, from receiving pool participants’ funds in any name other than
that of the pool. 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c), prohibits a CPO, whether registered or not,
from commingling the property of any pool it operates with the property of any
other person. Regulation 5.4, 17 C.F.R. § 5.4 (2022), states that Part 4 of the
Regulations, 17 C.F.R. pt. 4 (2022), applies to any person required to register as a
CPO pursuant to Part 5 of the Regulations, 17 C.F.R. pt. 5 (2022), relating to forex
transactions.

OIG’s and OM’s operation of the Oasis Pools violated 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(b)—
(c). OIG and OM, while acting as CPOs for the Oasis Pools, failed to receive the

pool participants’ funds in the names of the Oasis Pools, and commingled the
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property of the Oasis Pools with property of others. Facts 11 16-18, 20-22, 36, 47-
52.

F. Defendant OIG Failed To Provide Pool Disclosures

Regulation 5.4, 17 C.F.R. § 5.4 (2022), states that 17 C.F.R. pt. 4 applies to
any person required to register as a CPO under 17 C.F.R. pt. 5 relating to forex
transactions. Regulation 5.21, 17 C.F.R. § 4.21 (2022) provides:

[E]Jach commodity pool operator registered or required to be
registered under the Act must deliver or cause to be delivered to a
prospective participant in a pool that it operates or intends to operate
a Disclosure Document for the pool prepared in accordance with §§
4.24 and 4.25 by no later than the time it delivers to the prospective
participant a subscription agreement for the pool . . ..

Defendant OIG failed to provide to prospective pool participants with pool
disclosure documents in the form specified in Regulations 4.24 and 4.25,
17 C.F.R. § 4.24, 4.25 (2022). Facts 11 62-67. Therefore, Defendant OIG violated

17 C.F.R. § 4.21.

G. The Act Imposes Direct Liability on DaCorta as a Controlling
Person of OIG and OM

Under Section 13(b) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 13¢(b), an individual who
possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of an entity may be liable as a controlling person of that
entity, provided that the individual either knowingly induces, directly or
indirectly, the violative acts, or fails to act in good faith. To satisfy this standard,

the CFTC “must show that the controlling person had actual or constructive
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knowledge of the core activities that make up the violation at issue and allowed
them to continue.” R.J. Fitzgerald, 310 F.3d at 1334 (citation omitted).

Here, the undisputed material facts establish that DaCorta was a control
person of OIG and OM. With respect to OIG, DaCorta co-founded and was a
principal shareholder and director of OIG. Facts 1 3-4. DaCorta was OIG’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer, with responsibilities for all
investment decisions, trading execution, services, sales, clearing, and operations.
Facts 11 2-4, 7-8, 68-70, 72. With respect to OM, DaCorta was the sole principal
and general partner, as well as the sole signatory on OM’s bank accounts. Facts
99 11, 71-72.

Accordingly, DaCorta is liable as a control person for OIG’s and OM’s
violations of the Act and Regulations to the same extent as OIG and OM, both
because OIG’s and OM’s violations directly arise from DaCorta’s own conduct
and because DaCorta did not act in good faith; he acted with the intent to
defraud. The Court should enter summary judgment against DaCorta finding
him liable for OIG’s and OM’s violations as a control person. See 7 U.S.C. §
13¢(b). Thus, to the extent the Court later enters judgment against OIG and OM,
DaCorta bears liability for any such judgment as a control person.

VII. RELIEF SOUGHT

Based on DaCorta’s violations of the Act and Regulations, the CFTC requests
that the Court enter a permanent injunction against DaCorta pursuant to Section

6¢c(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(b), and impose restitution and a civil monetary
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penalty against DaCorta pursuant to Section 6¢(d) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d).

A. Permanent Injunction

7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(a) empowers the CFTC to seek permanent injunctive relief
and states in pertinent part:

Whenever it shall appear to the Commission that any registered
entity or other person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage
in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of this
Act or any rule, regulation or order, thereunder . . . the Commission
may bring an action in the proper district court of the United States,
. . . to enjoin such action or practice, or to enforce compliance with
this Act, or any rule, regulation or order thereunder. . ..

A court may issue a statutory injunction without considering traditional equitable
factors such as inadequacy of other remedies or irreparable harm. CFTC v.
Muller, 570 F.2d 1296, 1300 (5th Cir. 1978). In granting “an injunction, ‘the
ultimate test . . . is whether the defendant’s past conduct indicates that there is a
reasonable likelihood of further violations in the future.” CFTC v. Wilshire Inv.
Mgmt. Corp., 531 F.3d 1339, 1346 (11th Cir. 2008) (quoting SEC v. Caterinicchia,
613 F.2d 102, 105 (5th Cir. 1980)). “Whether a likelihood of future violations
exists depends on the totality of the circumstances.” CFTC v. Altamont Global
Partners, LLC, No. 6:12-cv-1095-ORL-31TBS, 2014 WL 644693, at *10 (M.D. Fla.
Feb. 19, 2014) (citation omitted). The Court may infer a likelihood of future
violations based on a defendant’s past illegal conduct. CFTC v. Hunt, 591 F.2d
1211, 1220 (7th Cir. 1979); CFTC v. Gutterman, No. 12-21047-CIV, 2012 WL

2413082, at *7 (S.D. Fla. June 26, 2012). Other factors the Court may consider
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include:

[TThe egregiousness of the defendant’s actions, the isolated or
recurrent nature of the infraction, the degree of scienter involved, the
sincerity of the defendant’s assurances against future violations, the
defendant’s recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct, and
the likelihood that the defendant’s occupation will present
opportunities for future violations.

Wilshire, 531 F.3d at 1346 (quoting SEC v. Carriba Air, Inc., 681 F.2d 1318, 1322
(11th Cir. 1982)).

The scope of the injunctive relief can be tailored to meet the circumstances
of the violations shown. For example, upon the CFTC’s showing of a violation,
courts have entered permanent injunctions against future violations of the Act.
See, e.g., Gutterman, 2012 WL 2413082, at *8 (entering a permanent injunction
with language nearly identical to the language proposed here); Altamont Global
Partners, 2014 WL 644693, at *12 (same). Courts also have entered broader
injunctions permanently prohibiting defendants from registering with the CFTC
and engaging in any commodity trading activity. See, e.g., id., at *13; Wilshire,
531 F.3d at 1346 (upholding the court’s permanent injunction prohibiting the
defendants from “engaging in any commodity-related activity”).

The intentional and egregious conduct engaged in and masterminded by
DaCorta warrants permanent injunctive relief, including comprehensive
registration and trading bans. As shown above, the undisputed material facts
establish that DaCorta violated the antifraud provisions of the Act and
Regulations by misappropriating pool participant funds, directing the mass

production of false account records, and making materially false representations
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and omissions in soliciting pool participants. Those facts also establish that
DaCorta violated the Act and Regulations by failing to register with the CFTC and
by illegally operating the Oasis Pools.

Moreover, the nature of the conduct at issue demonstrates a high
likelihood that, if able, DaCorta will continue to engage in this type of fraudulent
activity unless he is permanently enjoined from all commodity interest trading
and barred from registering with the CFTC in any capacity. DaCorta engaged in
the fraud described above despite a prior agreement not to engage in activities
that would require registration with the NFA. The fraudulent scheme was
pervasive and resulted in over 800 individuals suffering losses that collectively
exceed $50 million. Moreover, DaCorta is recalcitrant and has not accepted
responsibility for his criminal and fraudulent acts.

Based on the foregoing, the CFTC requests that the Court impose a
permanent injunction against DaCorta to prevent further and future violations.
Specifically, the CFTC requests that DaCorta be permanently restrained,
enjoined, and prohibited from directly or indirectly:

a. Cheating or defrauding, or attempting to cheat or defraud, other
persons in or in connection with any order to make, or the making
of, any contract of sale of any retail forex transaction that is made, or
to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, any other person, in violation
of Section 4b(a)(2)(A)—(C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A)—(C),

and Regulation 5.2(b)(1)-(3), 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(1)-(3) (2022);

35



Case 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF Document 749 Filed 07/17/23 Page 43 of 50 PagelD 12109

b. Employing any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any client or
participant or prospective client or participant, or engaging in any
transaction, practice or course of business which operates as a fraud
or deceit upon any client or participant or prospective participant in
violation of Section 40(1)(A)—(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(A)—(B);

C. Being associated with a CPO as a partner, officer, employee,
consultant, or agent, or a person occupying a similar status or
performing similar functions, in any capacity that involves the
solicitation of funds, securities, or property for participation in a
retail forex pool without being registered with the CFTC as an AP of
the CPO, in violation of Sections 2(c)(2)(C)(ii1)(I)(cc) and g4k(2) of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc), 6k(2) and Regulation
5.3(a)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2) (2022);

d. Failing to operate a commodity pool as an entity cognizable as a legal
entity separate from that of the pool operator, in violation of
Regulation 4.20(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(a)(1) (2022);

e. Failing to require that all funds, securities, or other property
received by a CPO from a prospective or existing pool participant be
received in the commodity pool’s name, in violation of Regulation
4.20(b), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(b) (2022);

f. Commingling the property of a commodity pool in violation of

Regulation 4.20(c), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2022); and
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Failing to provide prospective pool participants with pool disclosure
documents in the form specified in Regulations 4.24 and 4.25,
17 C.F.R. §§ 4.24, 4.25 (2022), in violation of Regulation 4.21,

17 C.F.R. § 4.21 (2022).

Further, the CFTC requests that DaCorta be permanently restrained,

enjoined, and prohibited from directly or indirectly:

a.

Trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity (as that
term is defined in Section 1a(40) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(40));
Entering into any transactions involving “commodity interests” (as
that term is defined in Regulation 1.3, 17 C.F.R. § 1.3 (2022)), for his
own personal account or for any account in which he has a direct or
indirect interest;

Having any commodity interests traded on his behalf;

Controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other
person or entity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any
account involving commodity interests;

Soliciting, receiving or accepting any funds from any person for the
purpose of purchasing or selling any commodity interests;

Applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration
with the CFTC in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring

such registration or exemption from registration with the CFTC,
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except as provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9)
(2022); and

g. Acting as a principal (as that term is defined in Regulation 3.1(a),
17 C.F.R. § 3.1(a) (2022)), agent or any other officer or employee of
any person (as that term is defined in Section 1a(38) of the Act,
7 U.S.C. § 1a(38)), registered, exempted from registration or

required to be registered with the CFTC except as provided for in

17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9).

B. Restitution

Section 6¢(d)(3) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d)(3), authorizes the Court to
impose a restitution obligation on any person found to have committed any
violation of the Act. The amount of restitution permitted under the Act is the
amount of losses proximately caused by the violation. 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d)(3)(A);
see also CFTC v. Smithers, No. 9:12-cv-81165-KAM, 2013 WL 4851684, at *10—-11
(S.D. Fla. July 31, 2013) (calculating restitution for the portion of the fraud
committed as the amount of customer losses).

Here, the pool participant losses DaCorta caused are substantial.
DaCorta’s violations caused hundreds of pool participants to sustain losses
totaling at least $53,270,336.08, as determined by the criminal judgment against

DaCorta. Accordingly, the CFTC requests that the Court order Defendant
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DaCorta to pay restitution in the amount of $53,270,336.08, plus post-judgment

interest.

C. Civil Monetary Penalty

Section 6¢(d) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d), provides that “the [CFTC] may
seek and the court shall have jurisdiction to impose, on a proper showing, on any
person found in the action to have committed any violation [of the Act or
Regulations] a civil penalty.” For violations committed on or after October 23,
2012, through November 1, 2015, the civil monetary penalty shall be not more
than the greater of $140,000 or triple the monetary gain for each violation.

7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d)(1)(A); Regulation 143.8, 17 C.F.R. § 143.8(a)(1)(ii)(D) (2022).
For violations committed on or after November 2, 2015, the civil monetary
penalty shall be not more than the greater of $194,710 or triple the monetary gain
for each violation. 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d)(1)(A); 17 C.F.R. § 143.8(a)(1)(ii)(D).

Courts and the CFTC have set forth several factors that this Court may
consider in assessing a civil monetary penalty, including: (1) whether the
violations involved core provisions of the CEA; (2) whether scienter was involved;
(3) the consequences flowing from the violations; (4) financial benefits to the
defendant; and (5) harm to customers. See Wilshire, 531 F.3d at 1346;
Gutterman, 2012 WL 2413082, at *10; In re Grossfeld, [1996—1998 Transfer
Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) Y 26,921 at 44,467-8 (CFTC Dec. 10, 1996),

aff’d, 137 F.3d 1300 (11th Cir. 1998). Civil monetary penalties should “reflect
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both the abstract or general seriousness of each violation and . . . should be
sufficiently high to deter future violations,” which means that civil monetary
penalties should make it financially detrimental to a defendant to fail to comply
with the Act and Regulations so that the defendant would rather comply than risk
violations. In re Grossfeld, 1 26,921 at 44,467-8; see also In re GNP
Commodities, Inc., [1990—92 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) 1
25,360 at 39,222 (CFTC Aug. 11, 1992). Courts have routinely awarded
significant civil monetary penalties in cases involving fraud. See, e.g., Altamont
Global Partners, 2014 WL 644693, at *11, *15 (on default, ordering civil
monetary penalty of $3,644,706, which represented three times the defendant’s
gain); CFTC v. Int’l Financial Servs. (NY), Inc., No. 02 CIV. 5497, 2003 WL
22350941, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. June 24, 2003) (on default, ordering maximum
allowable civil monetary penalty of $76 million equal to triple the monetary gain
to defendant for fraud violations). Courts have calculated the monetary gain to a
defendant by subtracting from the total amount the victims contributed: (1) the
amount of money returned to victims; and (2) the amount of trading losses. See,
e.g., Altamont Global, 2014 WL 644693, at *11; Smithers, 2013 WL 4851684, at
**12—-13 & n.5.

Significant monetary penalties are warranted in this case. DaCorta
committed repeated violations of the core antifraud provisions of the CEA and
Regulations that resulted in more than $50 million in pool participant losses. See

Wilshire, 531 F.3d at 1346 (“Defrauding customers is a violation of the core
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provisions of the CEA and should be considered very serious.”) (internal
quotations and citation omitted); Gutterman, 2012 WL 2413082, at *11
(imposing a “substantial civil monetary penalty against Defendants because they
knowingly engaged in fraud, which is a core violation of the [CEA]”) (citation
omitted)). DaCorta’s entire operation was illegal, and DaCorta misappropriated
pool participants’ money from the start of the scheme by treating pool participant
funds as a personal piggy bank. Moreover, DaCorta spent millions of his victims’
money on personal expenses such as personal residence, luxury vehicles,
vacations, and a trip on a private jet. In light of his intentionally and egregious
conduct, the CFTC seeks to impose a civil monetary penalty of triple the
monetary gain to DaCorta.

Here, consistent with the criminal judgment, the CFTC has calculated the
monetary gain to Defendant DaCorta as $2,817,876.16, the minimum amount
DaCorta both obtained and dissipated. DaCorta, Judgment in a Criminal Case,
Dkt. 234 at 8-9. Therefore, the CFTC respectfully requests that the Court order a
civil monetary penalty against DaCorta in the amount of $8,453628.48, which
reflects the gravity of the violations and equals triple the gain DaCorta dissipated,
$2,817,876.16, as set forth above.

VIII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the CFTC respectfully requests that the Court

enter an order granting summary judgment against DaCorta and issue a final

41
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order in the form of a proposed order to be provided to the Court by the CFTC (if
so requested) should it rule in favor of the CFTC.
Dated: July 17, 2023
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Exhibit | Description

Number

A DaCorta Trial Transcript (Day 6 - Anile Tr.)

B DaCorta Trial Transcript (Day 11 - DaCorta Tr.)

C DaCorta Trial Transcript (Day 4 - Stone Tr., Mitchell Tr.)

D DaCorta Trial Transcript (Day 10 - DaCorta Tr.)

E DaCorta Trial Transcript (Day 2 - Sunu Tr.)

F DaCorta Trial Transcript (Day 7 - Anile Tr., Paniagua Tr.)

G United States v. DaCorta DKT#191 Jury Instructions

H United States v. DaCorta DKT#192 Jury Verdict

I DaCorta Trial Transcript (Day 13)

J United States v. DaCorta DKT#039 Superseding Indictment

K LCJnited States v. DaCorta DKT#234 Judgment in a Criminal
ase
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5
1
2 (Proceedi ngs commenced at 9:07 a.m)
3 THE COURT: Thank you for the menbs. W can talk
4| about that at the end of the day today. It sure |ooks to ne
5] like that |ast sentence in 803(3) is sort of tailor-nade for

6 this exhibit. So let's keep going, and we can tal k about it
7| at lunch or at the end.

8 MR. ALLEN. Assum ng the Court decides to not let it
9l in wthout M. DaCorta testifying, | would still like to be

10| able to have himidentify it as sonmething that cane fromthe

11| house.

12 THE COURT: Well, he's on the stand, right?

13 MR, ALLEN:  Yes.

14 THE COURT: And the problemw th you doi ng that

15| before is you, because you're a good |awer, you did the big
16| w ndup.

17 MR ALLEN If the Court would prefer, | think they
18| are going to call Agent Batsch and | can do it through him
19 THE COURT: And the question is was Defense

20| Exhibit 71, or whatever the nunber is, was this also found in

21| the house, and the answer is yes. [It's not the big w ndup.
22 MR ALLEN:. Yes, sir.
23 THE COURT: |'mdelighted to hear fromyou. The |ast

24| sentence in 803(3), which I'"'mnot sure you discussed expressly

251 in your thing is -- | have been on the other end of that too.
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6
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP
11 It's like, oh, come on. Anyway, | haven't read all the cases
2| yet.
3 M5. BEDKE: So just to be clear, Your Honor -- I'm

4| sorry. So it's not going to come up with this witness but it

5| wll with Agent Batsch.

6 THE COURT: Right.

7 (Jury escorted into the courtroom)

8 THE COURT: Thank you very much, |adies and

9| gentlenmen. | hope everybody had a good weekend.

10 So where is our wtness?

11 MR ALLEN. They just went to get him Your Honor.
12 THE COURT: Counsel, you're on cross.

13 MR. ALLEN. Thank you, Your Honor.

14| BY MR ALLEN:

15 Q CGood norning, sir.

16| A Good nor ni ng.

17 Q Sir, when we |left off on Friday, | was nmaking ny way
18| through your handwitten notes of your interview of

19| M. DaCorta a little over three years ago on April 18 of 2019.
20| Do you recall that?

211 A Yes, sir.

22| Q Wuld it be fair to say that you cannot recall every
23| specific question | asked you on Friday and every specific
24| answer you gave?

25| A Yes, that's correct.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

11 Q And that's because our human m nds don't work that way?
21 A Yes, that's correct.

3| Q And you would agree with nme, would you not, that if I

4| asked you that same question three years fromnow, it would be
5| even nore difficult to recall specifically what you said and
6| what | asked?

71 A That is correct.

8| Q On page 3 of your handwitten notes, | believe we |eft
9| off where you wote, "Joe Anile -- friend for many years --
10 MD. asked himto advise." And | assume MD. is your

11| shorthand for M chael DaCorta?

12| A Yes, that's correct.

13| Q And does "asked to advi se" nean | egal advice?

14| A On how to set the conpanies, the LLCs and things |ike
15( that for the businesses and the properties.

16| Q Underneath that you note that he's a partner in Qasis
17| d obal, neaning Joe Anile?

18| A Yes.

19| Q "Has access to back office but not tradi ng account."”

20| Does that refer to M. Anile?

21 A Yes.

22| Q Havi ng access to what back office? The ATC back office?
23| The QGasis back office, or do you recall?

24| A | believe it was the Qasis back office.

251 Q Not access to the ATC account, Spotex account?
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

11 A | do not know for sure if he had access to the Spotex
2| account.
3| Q Because you can't recall specifically |ooking at your

4| notes three years |ater?
51 A | don't knowif it's that specifically or that it was

6| specifically differentiated between QGasis back office, Spotex

7| back office or ATC. | don't recall at this tine.

8 Q Because nenori es fade?

91 A Yes, sir.

10| Q You have then, "Knows what the" -- is that nunbers?

11| A Yes.

121 Q "Knows what the nunbers are and | ost noney in trading"?
13| A Yes, sir.

14| Q Referring to that M. Anile knows what the trading

15| nunbers are, and that at that nonent in tine that you were
16| interviewing M. DaCorta, they were having | osses in trading?
17 A Yes, sir.

18] Q "Does all the bill paying and contracts.” What's the
19| word after that?

201 A "Wres go out."

211 Q "Wres go out."

22| A Yes, sir.

23] Q Does that refer to M. Anile doing all the contracts,

24| li ke drafting the contracts and sending the wires out of the

25| donesti c bank account ?
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

11 A | believe so, yes.

21 Q You believe so or you know? You have a specific nenory?
3 A Yes, sir. That's ny understanding, that M. Anile was
41 the one responsible for sending the wires out.

51 Q How are you certain that's your understandi ng? Because
6 M. DaCorta said it or because you know that from being

7| involved in investigating this matter for three years?

8| A That's ny nenory fromour interviewwth M. DaCorta at
9| that tine.

10 Q How do you know it's not a nmenory that was created

11| fal sely because of your investigation and know edge of

12| everything el se about this case?

13| A | guess it would be inpossible to know if sonehow

14| nenories are falsely created, but ny nenory on this is from
15| the interview fromthat day, sir.

16| Q You then have, "M D. handl es trading and what assets to
17| acquire.” WMaybe | did ask you this because now |' m having a
18| nenory. That would be M. DaCorta doing the forex trading.
19| And the "assets to acquire" would be the real estate and gold
20| and silver?

21 A Yes.

221 Q You have, "J.A is aware there is no revenue comng in."
23| Is that in reference to the sanme donestic account that you
24| were talking to M. DaCorta about earlier in the interview?

25| A That's referring to Casis in general, that there's no
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

1| revenue stream If you renenber on page 1, the bottom when
2| we asked where his revenue streamis, he said, "I don't know "
3| And again, then, he's saying here there is no revenue stream
41 com ng in.

51 Q Correct. And on Friday when | was tal ki ng about the

6| revenue stream do you not recall that your answer being,

7| yeah, we were | ooking at the donestic account and we saw no

8| other revenue streamcomng into the donestic accounts?

91 A Yes, sir. | renmenber our conversation from Friday.

10 Q Then, "Has not added up how nmuch noney is owed to

11| investors -- thinks owes 50 mllion." |Is that referring to
12| M. Anile or to M. DaCorta?

13| A M. DaCort a.

141 Q "Trusted J.A.," that refers to Joe Anile, "to take what
15| he needs to live on"?

16| A Yes. Yes, sir.

17] Q So M. DaCorta is saying that he trusted M. Anile to

18| properly manage the donestic bank accounts?

19| A That when asked how M. DaCorta and M. Anile knew how
20| nuch to take or what their agreenent was as far as personal

21| living expenses or extravagant expenses, that M. DaCorta said
22| that M. Anile is -- let's see here. | lost ny spot on ny

23| notes, but that he would trust that he took what was needed to
24| live off of.

251 Q You woul d agree with ne that there is nothing in your
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

1l witten report that tal ks about extravagant spendi ng, any of

2| the other stuff that you just added to the line of, "Trusted

3]l J.A to take what is needed to |live on"?

41 A | believe there is reference to that directly, sir.

51 Q On this page where that line is witten?

6 A Previously in our conversation on, | believe maybe page 1
7 or 2. | would have to review exactly where, but | do believe
8 that it talks explicitly about that.

91 Q Wul d you agree, "Needs to live on," does not give one
10| the inference of extravagancy?

11 A | agree with that.

121 Q And you chose the words "needs to live on," correct, in
13| this report right here?

14 Yes, sir.
15 "M D. cannot access Mainstreant?
16 Yes, sir.
18 Yes, sir.
19 And did your subsequent investigation verify that in fact

20

A

Q

A

17| Q Mai nstreamis the donestic bank account, correct?

A

Q

M. Anile was the only signatory on the Minstream account?
A

21 I did not do a forensic analysis of the bank account. So
22| 1 wouldn't be able to answer that question, sir.

23| Q You then wote, "J.A can send noney from Mai nstream

24| to" -- is that "anyone"?

25| A Yes, sSir.
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CRCOSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP
11 Q Did you determine if that was a true statenent?
21 A This statement is -- or this docunent is based on notes

3| taken fromour interviewwth M. DaCorta. So what |'m doing
41 is conveying what he relayed to us.

5| Q | understand that, but you are also the co-case agent on
6| this case, correct?

71 A Yes, sir.

8| Q You have done a ot nore in this case than just interview
9| M. DaCorta three years ago?

10 A Yes.

11| Q My question is, did you or the other agents, to your

12| know edge, determ ne whether or not M. Anile had the ability
13| to wire noney from Mai nstreamto anywhere?

14| A Again, | did not do the forensic analysis on the bank

15| accounts. That would be a question to ask the people that

16| did. So | wouldn't feel confortable answering definitively to
17| that.

18] Q So you don't know?

19| A Yes, sir.

201 Q Then it says, "Does not know who he deals wth at

21| Mainstream" Does that mean M. DaCorta does not know who
22| Joseph Anile deals with at Minstreanf

23| A Yes, sir. Currently at that time M. DaCorta did not

24| know who the point of contact was at Miinstream but then he

25| said that M ke Nolan at Mi nstream was the person that
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP
1| M. Anile used to deal wth.
21 Q Did you or anybody else involved in the investigation of

3| GCasis confirmor refute that M. Anile was dealing with M ke

4| Nol an at WMai nstrean?

51 A | do not know that infornmation offhand, sir.
6 Q Is that first word on the next line "had" or "and"?
71 A "Had," sir.

8| Q kay. "Had bank account in Belize -- shut down and kept

9| their noney"?

10 A Yes.

11| Q Who had a bank account in Belize?

12| A Qasi s.

13| Q And who shut down and kept the noney?

14| A So ny understandi ng was that --

15| Q Hold on. 1Is it your understanding fromwhat M. DaCorta

16| said or your understanding fromyour subsequent investigation?
171 A From t he subsequent investigation.

18| Q Ckay.

19| A My under standi ng fromthe subsequent investigation was

20| that the Belize account had been shut down due to concerns by
21| the country of Belize in the way that Qasis was representing
22| the conpany, and that that was the cause of them shutting down
23| the Belize aspect of it.

24| Q "J.A set up things with Mainstream J. A" -- is that,

25| "manages wires"?
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

11 A The line is "J.A ," as in Joseph Anile, "set up things

2 with Miinstream and he noves noney through ATC as in ATC

3| Brokers.

4 Q Meani ng nmoney out of the Casis donestic operating account
5| being wired to ATC, noney then being used to trade in forex

6| and generate spread revenue and/or profits and | osses?

7 A | would agree with that other than | do not view the

8| spread as bei ng revenue.

| ncome?

10 | don't believe that's incone, sir.
11 "Has discussed with J.A howto turn it around"?
13

Meani ng the | osses?

14

Q
A
Q

12| A Yes, sir.
Q
A Yes, sir.
Q

15 Meaning the 3.8 mllion ounces of silver that he

16| antici pated was going to skyrocket?

17| A Meani ng that when M. DaCorta, as a few |lines, maybe ten
18| lines previously admtted they were $50 m|lion negative, that
19| he was trying to find a way to turn things around with

20| M. Anile.

211 Q Correct. And the way he told you he was going to turn it
22| around was that he had 3.8 mllion ounces of silver which he
23| antici pated was going to skyrocket?

24| A He had thought so, but he also said that he was, it

25| appeared, desperately trying to find a revenue streamto bring
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

1] 1in.

21 Q Wiere does it say at that |ine that he appeared to be
3| desperately trying to find a revenue streamto bring it in?
41 A It does not say that on that |line, but nunerous tines I
5| believe in here it talks about trying to achieve a revenue
6| stream

7 Q Wul d you agree with nme that | am naki ng ny way

8| nmeticul ously through every |ine of your report and have not

9| mssed a line yet?

10| A Yes, sir.

11| Q ["msorry?

12| A Yes, sir.

13| Q | apologize. | said "report." It's really just notes.
141 A Yes, sir.

15| Q GCo to page 4. It says, "Not operating as a

16| broker-dealer"?

17| A That is correct, sir.

18] Q That's all you have witten there, correct?

19| A Yes. Wen we are talking with M. Anile about the way
20 O G was set up, M. DaCorta advised with us or talked with us
21| about that he really isn't a broker-dealer in the sense that
22| M. DaCorta is essentially the only person trading for that
23| one account that it is in. [Individual investors aren't

24| trading forex through Casis. That they are the only ones.

25| So, therefore, it's not really a broker-dealer.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

11 Q Because he's not individually managi ng i ndi vi dua
2| client's segregated accounts. He is trading corporate noney
3|l in the trading account. That's what he's saying by not being

41 a traditional broker-dealer, correct?

51 A Yes, sir. There is essentially only one person doing the
6| tradi ng.
7 Q Next it says, "Took over 41 percent of Mrror |nages."

8| Do you know what Mrror |Inages is?

9|1 A | believe it was --

10 THE COURT: Hold on for a nonment. W are going to
11| take a quick break here. W have a little confort break. So
12| we will take a break for 15 m nutes and see how we are doing.
13 And al so ny conputer is not working so | need to get
14| M. Houston on that. Thank you. Fifteen m nutes.

15 (Recess taken.)

16 THE COURT: Thank you. W got our conputer running.
17| So, M. Allen, have at it.

18 MR, ALLEN.  Thank you.

19( BY MR ALLEN

201 Q Agent Vol p, | believe we left off tal king about the

21| notation on page 4 of your handwitten notes, "Took over

22| 51 percent of Mrror Images." | think the question was, do
23| you know what Mrror |nmages is?

24| A | believe it's a business. The details of Mrror |nmages

251 I"'mnot famliar with, but a business, yes.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

11 Q And as you previously testified, you put a line, and then
2(if there's little dashes underneath that, everything

3| underneath that line relates to that top line, correct?

4 A Typically, yes. Like an outline where if it's offset to
5| the right, it would typically fall under the thing above it.
6 Q The headi ng?

71 A Yes.

8| Q So offset of the heading, "51 percent of Mrror |nages,"
9| you wite, "Thought eventually they woul d get ahead"?

10 A Yes.

11| Q And then you wite, "Trying to use investor noney to

12| generate i ncone"?

13| A Yes, sir.

14| Q And since that's under Mrror Images, it's tal king about
15| himusing investor noney to do equity investing in conpanies,
16| correct?

171 A Yes.

18] Q And then you wite, "Agreed that they were telling people
19| was a msrepresentation.” And since that's offset, are you

20| referring to they weren't telling people they were using

21| |l ender noney for equity financing?

22| A Yes, sir. At that point in the conversation, | spoke

23| with M. DaCorta about the fact that the noney that they were
24| using for things like Mrror Inmages wasn't what they were

25| advertising to | enders.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP

11 Q Well, the FBI had sent an undercover agent, specifically
2| Agent Stone, who you worked with in the Sarasota office, and

3| Agent Stone on a recorded undercover operation wth

4 M. DaCorta, M. DaCorta, did he not, specifically say we are
5| using the noney that's |loaned to us for sone equity investing?
6 A Yes, but he also relayed to or it was relayed to Agent

7| Stone that when he specifically said, | don't want ny noney in
8| real estate and things like that, it was relayed to Agent

9| Stone that his noney was not going to be used in things |ike
10| real estate.

11| Q Right. He said the conmpany's capital would be used,

12| correct?

13| A | believe sonething along those |Iines, yes.

14| Q And you woul d agree when a conpany borrows noney, the

15| noney they borrow becones their working capital, correct?

16| A Yes, sir.

17 Q Let's go on to the next section because you put a space
18| in there, which I think you're trying to denote it's a

19| different topic, correct?

201 A Yes, sir.

211 Q And you wote, "Steven Dribusch -- brought himin to | ook
22 at...," what's that word?

23| A Wat ch.

24| Q "Watch the trading"?

25| A Yes, sSir.
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1| Q Steven Dribusch was one of the traders that Qasis

2| I'nternational G oup had working for them sir?

3 A Yes, sir.

41 Q So there was M chael DaCorta, Steven Dribusch, and Fred
5| Viscogliosi, correct?

6| A Yes, sir.

7 Q And | guess the continuation of that sentence is,

8| "Platforma few hours a day"?

91 A Yes, sir.

10 Q Do you have a clear nmenory what the three dots takes the
11| pl ace of what was said by M. DaCorta as you sit here today?
12| A | believe, sir, that it was that M. DaCorta was sayi ng
13| Steven Dribusch was brought in to | ook at the accounts and
14| watch the trading platforma few hours a day.

15 Q Vell, isn't that what you have witten al ready?

16| A Yes, sir.

17 Q So do you not -- the three dots usually take the place of
18| sonet hing, correct?

19| A | don't have a specific nenory on the three dots other
20| than | was summari zing the content of the conversation.

211 Q And that's what you're doi ng throughout your notes. You
22| are summari zi ng, correct?

23| A Yes, sir.

24| Q And you're already there with a mndset that M. DaCorta

25|l is involved in a Ponzi schene, correct?
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11 A Yes, sir.
21 Q And woul d you not agree that you are not -- because of

3| that m ndset, the things that you are perceiving, you're

41 trying to fit the narrative that you already have, correct?

51 A No, sir. I1'mtrying to accurately docunent the

6| conversation we had with M. DaCort a.

7 Q Wel |, an audi o/visual recording woul d have accurately

8| docunented it, correct?

9| A Possibly. Possibly not, sir.

10 Q Because t he equi pnment coul d have broke?

11 A Because there are numerous exanples of video that doesn't
12| accurately portray what is going on based of angles and ot her
13| factors.

14| Q Can you give ne an exanple of a video/audio that is set
15 in front of a person who is talking directly to the video and
16| audio where it did not accurately reflect what was being said
17| and spoken?

18| A | don't have an exanple that | could relay in court right
19| now for that specific exanple, sir.

201 Q Did you not just say there's |lots of exanples where the
21| video and audi o recordi ng doesn't depict what was actually

22| taking pl ace?

23| A Yes, sir.

24| Q You were tal king about a different scenario than the one

25| | just gave you of putting the canera and audio in front of
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1| sonebody?

21 A | was talking in general, sir.

3| Q You wote, "Last couple nonths he knew they were," what
41 is that word?

51 A "They weren't doing well."

6 Q Meaning the profit and | oss trading?

71 A Yes, sir.

8| Q "Has access to make the trades,"” neaning Steven Dribusch
9| had access to do trading?

10| A Yes, sir.

11| Q "Fred al so has access and trades a few hours a day."

12| Underneath that you wite, "Viscogliosi -- knows they are

13| losing noney again in the profit and | oss trading"?

141 A Yes, sir.

15| Q "John Haas -- brings in RA noney to Qasis, lives in

16| New York." And that's the individual who owned Satellite

17| Hol di ngs, correct?

18| A | believe so, yes.

19| Q And the Satellite Holdings was not owned by M. DaCorta
20| or anybody at Qasis International G oup?

211 A Not to ny know edge.

221 Q Then you have a space. So | guess we're going to a

23| different topic, correct?

241 A Yes, sir.

25 Q And you have "R M," Ray Mntie?




Case 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF Document 749-2 Filed 07/17/23 Page 23 of 268 PagelD 12141

22
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON OF RI CHARD VOLP
11 A Yes, sir.
21 Q "Has invested noney, does not know," and then it's left
3| bl ank, but that would be about the | osses?
41 A Yes, sSir.
5| Q The next line. "MD. -- always pays when they go out to

6| eat -- nostly with other people in the conpany"?

71 A Yes, sir.

8| Q Then you have, "Intended to pay the conpany rent but has
9| not happened.” Rent for what?

10 A For the residence that they are living in.

11| Q The one at Lost Key Pl ace?

12| A Yes, sir.

13| Q So he is indicating that it was his intent to pay rent to
141 live there?

15| A Yes, but he hasn't been doing that.

16| Q Then you have, "Joe," |I'massum ng that's Pani agua
17| because | know about the case.

18| A Yes, sir.

19| Q Is that Joe Pani agua?

201 A Yes, sir.

211 Q Dash, "Handl es the back office." That's both the

22| Spotex/ ATC back office as well as the Casis |ender portal,
23| correct?

24| A That was mny understanding, sir, yes.

251 Q "Receives the reports every day underneath Joe Pani agua."
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1| Wiich reports are you tal ki ng about ?
21 A | believe that was the trading reports from ATC Brokers,

3| sir.

4 Q Whi ch al so shows how rmuch spread revenue is being

5| generated even though you don't believe that it's revenue?

6 A ATC Brokers -- | believe the spread pay was generated

7| from Spotex, not ATC

8| Q But he sees those records, the Spotex records?

9] A | don't recall specifically about the Spotex records. |
10| believe that that was in reference to ATC Brokers.

11| Q Let's tal k about that. Do you know the rel ationships

12| between Spotex and ATC?

13| A | have a general understanding, sir, but |I'mnot an

14| expert on that by any neans.

15| Q Did you know that Spotex wote the software that ATC is
16| using in providing to Gasis International G oup?

17| A That is ny understanding, sir, yes.

18] Q So when we tal k about the Spotex records, those are just
19| a duplicate of what the ATC records are, would they not be if
20|l it's their software and everything in the software deals with
21| what i s happening at ATC and O G?

22 A If that's your understanding, sir. | wouldn't be able to
23| testify to the Spotex aspect of things, and | believe that has
24| al ready been done.

251 Q I"'mnot trying to testify. |If you don't understand,
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1| that's okay.
21 A kay.
3| Q "Has access to the ATC account,"” meani ng Joe Pani agua,
4( right?
51 A Yes, sir.
6 Q "Knows there are other assets -- but does not know the

7| way it is set up," correct?

81 A Yes.

91 Q And then you put in brackets, "As a Ponzi schene."” And
10| you testified yesterday M. DaCorta never used the words

11| "Ponzi schene?"

12| A That is correct. | was trying to capture the nuances of
13| the conversation. And I try to nake ny notes as accurate and
14| honest as | can, so therefore | nade sure to put brackets

15| around that to differentiate if that is ny own interpretation
16| or understanding fromthe conversation versus quotes. And

17| again, | was trying to nmake these notes as accurate as | could
18| to the conversati on.

19| Q Right. And so right here clearly in your notes you're in
20|l this interviewinterpreting what M. DaCorta is saying to fit
21| your narrative that he was involved in a Ponzi schene. That's
22| why you wote it down when he didn't say "Ponzi schene,"”

23| right?

24| A No, sir. | amputting it in brackets because that is the

25| intent of the line that was spoken, but it was not verbatim
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1| said as a Ponzi schene. And | wanted to nake sure ny notes
2| accurately reflected the conversation

3 Q You testified yesterday on cross-exam nation as to what
41 the FBI's website has defined a Ponzi schene to be, correct?
51 A Yes, sir.

6 Q And generally it is investors are being told of an

7| i nvestnment opportunity. They're told that their dividends and
8| profits are comng fromthat investnent opportunity, but in
9| truth and fact it is comng from other subsequent investors?
10| A Yes, sir.

11| Q You wote that M. DaCorta said, "Paniagua knows there
12| are other assets but does not know the way it is set up."

13 You woul d agree with ne, would you not, that you

14| didn't wite, "M . DaCorta said there are no real dividends or
15| interest. W are just paying people fromother |enders,"”

16| correct? You didn't wite that, right?

17 A | did not wite that, correct.

18] Q And you woul d agree with ne that what you wote does not
19| neet the definition of a Ponzi schenme that you agreed on

20| Friday was the definition that the FBI has |isted as a Ponzi
21| schene on their website, and you agreed with that definition,
22| correct?

23| A | do agree with the definition on the FBI website, and I
24| stand by this, that I'"'mtrying to capture the intent of it,

25| and the intent of that portion of the conversation, we were
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1| tal king about it being set up as a Ponzi schene.

21 Q kay. You didn't wite anything here that would neet the
3| definition of a Ponzi schene at this line, did you, sir?

4 A Not on this specific |line, no.

51 Q Because Joe Pani agua knowi ng there's other assets doesn't
6 mean it's a Ponzi schene, right?

71 A Correct.

8| Q H m not knowing the way it's set up doesn't nean it's a
9| Ponzi schene, right?

10 A Correct.

11| Q Coing to page 5, "Updates based on the spread,"” correct?
12| A Yes.

13| Q That's M. DaCorta saying that QCasis' custoner portal is
14| being updated to show the | enders what their interest increase
15| is based on the daily spread they're generating, correct?

16| A Yes.

17] Q And that that information on the spread, your next line
18| you say, "ATC gives the information," and that relates to the
19| spread. ATC is given the information on what the spread was,
20| correct?

211 A Yes, sir.

22| Q "M D. does not know -- set up the website -- J.P. would
23| know." So M chael DaCorta does not know who set up the

24| website. That's referring, | suspect, to QGasis International

25| Goup's lender portal sign-in thing, correct?
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11 A Yes, sir.

21 Q And J.P. refers to who?

3 A Joe Pani agua.

4 Q And so he's saying Joe Pani agua woul d know?

51 A Yes, sir.

6 Q D d your investigation uncover whether or not Joe

7| Pani agua knew who set up the Qasis custoner portal ?

8|1 A Yes, | believe so, sir.

9|1 Q And it was John Pani agua, his brother, right?

10| A Yes, sir.

11| Q Who was al so a | ender, right?

12| A | believe so, yes.

13| Q Then you have a space, and you wite, "Does not know how

14| much [ oss with ATC Brokers"?

15| A Yes, sir.

16| Q Meaning M. DaCorta or M. Pani agua?

17| A M. DaCorta did not know what their actual |osses were
18| specifically with ATC Brokers.

19| Q But he never denied that there were | osses. He just
20| didn't know the exact nunber?

21 A Correct.

22| Q "M chael DaCorta gets an enail to pay investors back.
23| M chael DaCorta sends noney back to them dependi ng on which
24| account it cones fron?

25| A Yes, sSir.
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11 Q So this is M. DaCorta indicating that they do pay noney
2| back to | enders, correct?

3 A Yes, sir.

4 Q And as you noted in your under oath search warrant

5| affidavit, that your investigation up to that point had shown
6| over $20 m | lion had been paid back to | enders, correct?

7 A Yes, sir. Just like you had brought up a couple of tines
8| the definition of a Ponzi schene, that they are paying back

9| the previous | enders based on the noney that was in those

10| accounts.

11 Q | appreciate your desire to sneak that in, but the

12| question was, your investigation showed, as you testified to
13| under oath in the search warrant affidavit, that they did in
14| fact pay back over $20 mllion to Il enders. Yes or no, sir?
15| A Yes, sir.

16| Q Then you wite, "Vinny Raia bought a condo.” Wo is

17| Vinny Rai a?

18| A One of the enployees of Qasis, sir.

19| Q And he did in fact buy a condo, correct?

201 A | believe so, sir.

211 Q And then he wote -- can you nmake out that nanme?

22| shoul d say "you wote."

23| A ["msorry?

24| Q Can you nmake out that nane?

25| A I"msorry. | didn't realize you were waiting on ne, sir.
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111 believe it's Stephen DaCorta, sir.

21 Q And what's one of M. DaCorta's sons?

3 A Yes, sir.

4 Q And he's indicating lives in one. And I'm assum ng

5| because it's underneath the Iine where you tal k about Vinny

6| Rai a bought a condo, that "lives in one" neans a condo?

71 A Yes.

8| Q And, "Deb Cheslow lives in one," |'massum ng a condo?
91 A Yes, sir.

10 Q And then, "Buckinghans live in one and pay rent"?

11| A Yes, sir.

121 Q D d your investigation verify that the Bucki nghans were

13| paying rent in one of the condos?

14| A That was ny under st andi ng, yes.

15 Q And then you have, "6300 M dnight Pass -- one investor

16| agreed to sell, and they credited his account -- had the cash
17| at the tine." Does the cash at the tinme nean the person who
18| purchased it had the cash at the tinme or that O G had the cash
19| at the tinme, or do you have any recollection whatsoever?

201 A My understandi ng was that at the tine that they purchased
21| that condo or nmade the agreenent, that they had that anmount of
22| cash in their bank accounts.

23] Q Who had t hat cash?

241 A CGasis, sir.

251 Q In other words, they could have given himcash for it as
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1| opposed to crediting his account?
21 A | don't know for certain w thout |ooking at the bank
3| account for that specific time. And again, | didn't do the

4| forensic analysis on the bank account. So | wouldn't be able
5| to testify whether or not there was the cash in that account

6| on that date.

7 Q I wasn't asking you whether that was a true statenent. |
8| was aski ng you whether that was the inference that you recal

9| hi msayi ng?

10 | believe so, sir, yes.
11 And then you have M. -- can you read that nane for ne?
12 Scamardel [ a, sir.

14

A
Q
A

13| Q Dash, "lnvestor"?
A Rel ating to the M dnight Pass condo, sir.
Q

15 He then indicated, "M dnight Pass condo is used for

16| business visitors"?

17| A Yes, sir.

18] Q And then a squiggly line. | think it's "Duran -- has no
19| idea.” I'massumng that's about the | osses again?

201 A Yes, sir.

211 Q "Been paid 600,000 |ast year"?

221 A Yes, sir.

23| Q Then you have, "M D. says Duran is not in the know " |'m
24| assum ng about the | osses?

25| A Yes, sSir.
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11 Q "QOasi s bought his honme as a foreclosure to flip his hone
2 in a few years"?

3 A Yes, sir.

4 Q And that's common. People buy hones in forecl osure and
51/ flip themand nmake a profit. You are aware of that, right?
6| A Yes, sir.

7 Q And that's what M. DaCorta said was the purpose of the
8| hone that M. Duran was living in, correct?

91 A Yes, sir.

10 Q Did you ever find any evidence that the hone wasn't

11| purchased on a forecl osure?

12| A | did not |ocate anything to the contrary.
13| Q You then wite, "J.A," I"'massumng that's Joseph Anile,
14| "Sends requires to F.D.," |I'massum ng Frank Duran, "personal

15| account"?

16| A Yes, sir.

17] Q "Does not know how t hey determ ned how t hey knew how to
18| pay"?
19| A Yes, sir. W were asking about how nuch everyone nmakes

201 for OG what their salaries were and how t hey determ ned

21| that.

22| Q Vell, it would appear that you did an indentation and

23| stuck this underneath the comment about Frank Duran's personal
24| account. G ven your normal practice, would it not be nore

25| accurate to interpret your notes fromthree years ago that he
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1| was referring to he doesn't know how M. Anil e determ nes how
2| much to pay Frank Duran?

3 A You could interpret it that way, yes, sir.

41 Q Vell, is that the accurate interpretation or sone other
5] interpretation or because this was three years ago you really
6| don't know?

7 A My nmenory of it was that there was no set standard for

8| how to pay enpl oyees. There was no standard across the board
9| or performance based or tenure based on anything of that

10| nature.

11| Q So your nenory today three years later is inconsistent
12| with the nmethod that you had been enploying up to this point
13| in time in your handwitten notes. |Is that your testinony?
141 A Rel ated to this line, that it related to M. DaCorta

15| tal ki ng about how t hey determ ned or not know ng how to

16| determ ne how nuch to pay each person, yes.

17 Q Ckay. Is there sone way | could tell three years |later
18| when you are not foll ow ng your standard procedure for putting
19| it underneath to refer to the thing above?

201 A I think that, you know, ny notes are a pretty accurate
21| representation of the conversation and that the overall intent
22| is very well maintained.

23| Q So that's a no, there's no way for ne to tell when you
24| are not applying your standard procedure?

25| A That's correct, sir.
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11 Q You then back over again, not underneath the comment
2| about Frank Duran's personal account, you have, "G | sends

3| invoice, paid 150 an hour."

23 Pai d nmont hl y?

24 Yes, sir.

41 A Yes, sSir.
5[ Q And that's G| WIson?
6| A Yes, sir.
7 Q And then there's, "Deb 15K per nonth"?
8|1 A Yes, sir.
9 Q And that's Deb Chesl ow?
10| A Yes, sir.
11| Q And then J.P. is Joe or John Pani agua?
12| A Joe Pani agua, sir.
13| Q They have the sanme first initial?
14| A They do, sir.
15| Q "Paid nonthly,"” is that a 9 or a 5?
16| A It's an 8 to 10.
17| Q 8 to 10K?
18| A Yes, sir.
19| Q Kreferring to thousand?
201 A Yes.
211 Q V.R I'massumng is Vinny Raia?
22| A Yes.
Q
A
Q

25 Seven to 8K referring to 7 to 8, 0007
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11 A Yes, sir.

21 Q Going to page 6, you wite, "Roar of the Lion -- totally
3| separate," correct?

41 A Yes, sSir.

51 Q And your investigation uncovered that Roar of the Lion

6 was a protein powder supplenent conpany?

71 A Yes, sir.

8| Q That was going to be network marketed but then ultinmately
9| was going to be econmerced?

10 A | believe so, sir.

11 Q And is it not true that during the execution of this

12| search warrant at the business address on Gulf Bay or whatever
13| it's called, Gulf Drive, there were actually canisters of the
14| Roar of the Lion product there, correct?

15| A | wasn't at that search warrant, and | don't renenber

16| seei ng phot ographs of those canisters, so I'mnot sure. They

17| could have been. |'mnot sure, sir.

18] Q You are not disputing it. You just don't know?

19| A Yes, sir, that is correct.

201 Q And then you put, "Thought they could build a business"?
211 A Yes, sir.

22| Q And that was a business that he was doing with his son

23| correct?
241 A Yes, sir.

251 Q Do you recall which son? Was it Andrew or Stephen or do
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1| you recall, or was it both?
21 A | don't recall at this tine, sir.
3| Q ["massumng it was said and you just didn't note it in

4| your report and now you can't recall because you didn't wite
5/ it down?

6 A | believe it was Stephen, but | don't recall at this

7| noment on the stand. And so | don't want to confuse the two
8| sons.

9|1 Q You would agree if it was video and audi o recorded, we
10| woul d know for certain which son he said, correct?

11| A Potentially, sir.

12| Q Because there's these rare occasi ons when video and audi o
13| doesn't capture what's really going on, although you can't

14| think of an exanple where that's ever happened.

15( A O, sir, if he didn't specifically say which son during
16| the conversati on.

171 Q Ckay. | thought you just testified he did say which son
18| you just can't recall?

19| A | believe that it was Stephen, sir, but | don't recal

20| specifically at this tinme. | just don't want to mx up the
21| two sons.

221 Q Ckay. And then it says, "Have an online store,” correct?
23| A Yes, sir.

24| Q And your investigation revealed there was in fact an

25| online store for Roar of the Lion product, correct?
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11 A Yes, sir.

21 Q And we're back over, so I'massumng it's a new topic,

3| but as we've learned it may not be. "Wres gold and silver."
4 Can you nmake out what you put there?

51 A Yes, sir. "Wres for the gold and silver are at J. A ,"

6| so Joseph Anile's house as wel|.

7 Q kay. And a wre is like a bank wire, right?

8|1 A Yes, sir.

91 Q Wring the noney, right?

10| A Yes, sir.

11| Q And so there are wires at Joe Anile's about gold and

12| silver?

13| A | believe, sir, that this is saying that the gold and
14| silver is also at M. Anile's house.

15| Q Vll, it doesn't say that, does it?

16| A Correct, sir.

17 Q You wote, "Wres gold and silver at Joe Anile's,"

18| correct?

19| A Yes, sir.

201 Q And in fact, you testified on direct examnation in --
21| can you put on the El no, please?

22 You testified in Government's Exhibit 305 and

23| pai nstakingly went through all these receipts that these were
24| all cash purchases for the gold and silver?

25| A | believe there were sone wires, Sir.
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11 Q In these receipts?
21 A | believe so. If | recall. | nean, we can go through

3|l all the invoices if you' d like, but | believe there are sone

41 wires for $225,000, a hundred and sone thousand dollars. |

5| certainly can go through the receipts and find those.

6 Q "Il take your word for it. There were not any wires

7| found at M. Anile's house regarding gold and silver, correct?
| don't believe so, sir.

You made a m stake, right, by witing the word "w res"?

11

A
Q
10 A Potentially, sir, yes.
Q Vell, potentially or you did?
A

12 | believe we were tal king about the wires for the gold
13| and silver and that the gold and silver was found at

141 M. Anile's house.

15 Q You just didn't have the ability to accurately wite out

16| what was bei ng sai d?

17 MR MJURRAY: Your Honor, | object. Argunentive.
18 THE COURT: Overrul ed.
19| A | did not wite verbati mevery word that was said, but |

20| docunented the sunmary of our conversation as accurate and
21| authenticate as | was able to.

22| BY MR ALLEN

23] Q Because you're not a court reporter, right?

241 A " m not.

251 Q You're not a video camnera?
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1 A No.

21 Q Not an audi o recorder device?

3 A No, sir.

4 Q But you didn't let M. DaCorta wite it out in his own

5| handwiting, correct?

6 A He certainly could have if he wanted, but we did not have
7| himdo that, sir.

8| Q You did not offer himthe opportunity to do that, did

9| you, sir?

10 A | believe in the last three years he's had that

11| opportunity, sir.

121 Q Thank you. |'mtal king about the day you are in the room
13| with himby yourself with Agent Batsch separated fromhis

14| famly after you cane in his door with guns blazing -- not

15| blazing -- drawn. You didn't give himthe opportunity to hand
16| wite his statenment; isn't that correct?

17 A He did not sign a confession, no.

18] Q The question, sir --

19| A Yes, sir.

201 Q -- is you did not give himthe opportunity to hand wite
21| his statenent. Yes or no?

22| A He did not wite his statenent. Yes, that's correct.

23| Q The question is, you did not give himthe opportunity to
24| wite a statenent. |If we could focus on the word

25| "opportunity,” please.
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11 A That is correct.

21 Q And you did not give himyour handwitten notes and say,
3| M. DaCorta, please reviewthis. | want to nmake sure | get a
4| very accurate account of what you're telling ne today, and

5| make any corrections if | mswote down what | was perceiving
6| you to say. That wasn't provided to himeither, was it?

7 MR. CHEE: Your Honor, | object. And | also nove for
8| the introduction of the notes.

9 THE COURT: You are going to have cross. bjection
10| overruled -- redirect.

11| BY MR ALLEN

121 Q Do you need ne to reask the question?

13| A Yes, please.

14| Q You did not take your handwitten notes at the end of

15| that two-plus hour interview or two-hour or hour-and-45

16| interview and give your notes to M. DaCorta and say, here,
17 M. DaCorta. W have been talking to you for two hours. |
18| have been taking notes, and | want to ensure that | accurately
19| captured what you were saying. Please review ny notes and

20| make any corrections that you think are appropriate. You

21| didn't do that, did you?

22| A | did not say that to M. DaCorta, no.

23] Q You didn't even give himan opportunity to read your

24| notes on that day, did you?

25| A He did not read them that is correct.
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11 Q Because you did not give himthe opportunity?
21 A That is correct.
3| Q Do you think if you gave himthe opportunity, he would

4| have said no?

5 MR CHEE: Objection. Speculation.
6 THE COURT: That calls for specul ation.
7 MR ALLEN:  ['Ill nove on.

8| BY MR ALLEN

91 Q Underneath the, "Wres gold and silver at Joe Anile's,"
10 you wite, "Checks were paid by MD." Checks for the gold and
11| silver or what checks?

12| A | believe so, sir.

13| Q You believe so or you have a nenory?

14| A | do recall Mchael DaCorta signing the checks, yes.

15| Q Whi ch checks? For what? For the gold and silver or for

16| furniture or for all of the above? For what?

17| A | believe the gold and silver, sir.

18] Q You believe or you know?

19| A | believe so, sir.

201 Q You are not certain or you are sure?

211 A I"mconfident that M. DaCorta signed checks for the gold

22| and silver.
23| Q | know that. We saw that in a government exhibit.
24| A Yes, sir.

251 Q My question is, inthe interview are you confident that's
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1| what he was tal king about ?

21 A Yes, sir.

3| Q O was he tal king about other checks?

41 A Yes, sSir.

5| Q Yes, sir, you're confident that's what he was tal king

6| about ?

71 A Yes, sir.

8| Q Are you sure your nenory has not been created of that

9| because you have actually | ooked that he wote checks to the
10| gol d and silver place?

11| A If you ook on the |line above it, it tal ks about the gold
12| and silver. And then the line below it tal ks about Vinny

13| picking up the gold and silver. 1It's nested in there.

14| think it references that. It is supported by the statenents
15| around it in the docunents, sir.

16| Q Right, but did we not just earlier find out that that's
17| not always the way you did it. Sonetinmes it doesn't relate to
18| the thing right belowit?

19| A Well, in any conversation, yes, it's going to switch

20| topic to topic as you go through, yes.

211 Q kay. You then wite, "Vinny picking up all," neaning
22| the gold and silver, right?

23| A Yes, sir.

241 Q "J.A did," what's that word?

25| A Al the legal witing.
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11 Q I ncluding the prom ssory notes, risk disclosure, |oan

2| agreenent, correct?

3 A Correct, sir.

41 Q "Said he did not discuss the disclosures with J. A"

5| neaning Joe Anile. And | guess because it's right under the
6 legal witing, he's tal king about the risk disclosure?

71 A Yes, sir.

8| Q And that's the risk disclosure that Agent Stone

9| pretending to be a | ender received in an email from Frank
10| Duran and al so was able to print and downl oad off of the

11| Il ender portal on the QGasis International Goup site?

12| A Yes, sir.

13| Q And then you have a space. And it |ooks |ike the next
14| section deals with M. DaCorta's taxes, correct?

15| A Yes, sir.

16| Q You have, "Taxes -- MD. said he did not know what was on
17| his taxes"?

18| A Correct.

19| Q Meani ng the taxable incone?

201 A | believe the nunbers that were generated for the tax
21| return, sir.

22| Q Because he had hired a CPA to do them right?

23| A Yes, sir.

24| Q And you write underneath the taxes, "No other source of

25| revenues.” And that's related to what was on his taxes?
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11 A Yes, sir.
21 Q "Does not know how they wote off |osses,"” referring to

3| they being the CPAs?
4 A Yes, sir. Woever prepared his taxes.
51 Q And then you wote, "Did not disclose trading | osses for
6| taxes"?
71 A Yes, sir.
8| Q Were you tal king about M. DaCorta's personal tax return
9| or his business tax return or both of themall at the sane
10| time, or do you not have any nenory of specifically which tax
11| returns you were di scussing?
12| A | believe they were the personal tax returns, sir.
13| Q In your experience, do people put their business |osses
14| on their personal tax returns?
15( A | have no experience with business taxes, sir.
16| Q Ckay. "J.A.," neaning Joseph Anile, "brought soneone in
17| to take care of things.”" Wo's the soneone, and what are the
18| things that he brought the person in to take care of?
19| A | believe that they had started sone sort of audit. |
20| don't recall the nanm